**RECEIVED**

**Aug 07 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge  
Case No.: 2020-CP-07-00768

Appellate Case No. 2020-001500  
Opinion No. 24-UP-082, Filed March 20, 2024  
Withdrawn, Substituted, and Refiled May 22, 2024

Dana Advocaat, both individually and as Trustee of the Advocaat  
Living Trust dated March 7, 2019.....Respondent,

v.

Community Services Associates, Inc.....Petitioner.

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

Douglas W. MacKelcan, Esq.  
S.C. Bar No.: 76332  
Skyler C. Wilson, Esq.  
S.C. Bar No.: 103819

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in reviewing the lower court's decision for an abuse of discretion when the questions presented included novel questions of statutory interpretation and questions of legislative intent?
2. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the lower court's finding the Gate Agreement was a "bylaw" under the Nonprofit Corporation Act when the Gate Agreement is a private contract that does not constitute a code or code of rules for managing the affairs of the corporation and the decision, if allowed to stand, would lead to an absurd result?
3. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the lower court's finding the Gate Agreement was an "accounting record" under the Nonprofit Corporation Act when there was no reasonable factual support in the record that the Gate Agreement was used to prepare the corporation's financial statements?
4. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the lower court's decision the Gate Agreement was discoverable under the Rules of Civil Procedure when the purpose of the lawsuit was to access documents under the Nonprofit Corporation Act and the scope of discovery is at odds with the Act's specific requirements members must meet to access documents?
5. Did the Court of Appeals correctly find as unsupported the lower court's decision the Gate Agreement could be compelled based on common law when the lower court did not base its decision on any supporting law?

## SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS FOR GRANTING WRIT UNDER RULE 242(B), SCACR

For thirty years since the statute's passage, a nonprofit corporation member has had a statutory right to inspect specific corporate documents and to apply to the circuit court for inspection of those documents if the corporation refuses. Yet in those thirty years, no appellate court has published an opinion on the scope of a member's rights, or to further clarify the types of

documents to which that inspection right applies. Community associations and their management companies are routinely demanded by members to make documents available for inspection and copying. All that is available to guide community associations in evaluating those requests, are the language of the statute and nonbinding opinions of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office. This Court has opportunity to opine on novel questions of the Nonprofit Corporation Act and issue guidance for the bench and bar.

Specific to this Petition, this Court should grant Petitioner's writ because the Court of Appeals reviewed the appeal incorrectly for an abuse of discretion, forcing itself to uphold the lower court's erroneous, broad statutory interpretation that ignores key language and would entitle nonprofit corporation members access to documents not intended by the legislature. Perhaps most strikingly, the lower court and Court of Appeals failed to address the obvious consequences of their own decisions: If the private contractual agreement at issue is truly a "bylaw" under the Nonprofit Corporation Act as the courts have held, then the Homeowners Association Act requires it be recorded in order to be enforceable. This Court should grant the writ to address this absurd result ignored by prior courts.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal is about a nonprofit community association's private contract and whether a member of the association has a right to inspect the contract under the Nonprofit Corporation Act. The Gate Agreement at issue is a contract between three parties that establishes gate entry fees for public access to the community between 2018 and 2021, and outlines how the fees should be used. This appeal is not about how the association uses the gate fee revenue and whether the Gate Agreement is discoverable in such a case. This appeal is—or should be—purely about inspection rights under section 33-31-1602 of the South Carolina Code.

### ***Sea Pines and CSA***

Sea Pines is a private, gated community on Hilton Head Island. **R. 23.** The community includes residential homes and condominiums, a resort hotel, businesses, and recreational facilities. After the original developer went through bankruptcy, CSA was formed in 1987 as a nonprofit corporation and assumed the developer's responsibility for Sea Pines, including ownership and management of the roads, common areas, and the gates to the community. **R. 175.** CSA has a recorded set of bylaws that governs its activities. **R. 141–59.** Its members include all Sea Pines property owners. **R. 179–80.** Its board of directors consists of nine residential property owners, four representatives of Sea Pines Resort, and four representatives of the businesses in Sea Pines. **R. 367.**

Through various assignments and company successions, Sea Pines Resort, LLC, and Sea Pines Center Associates, LLC, have rights with respect to the gate policy and must consent to any changes in the policy, including the fees charged for access to Sea Pines. **R. 244–45.**

### ***The Gate Policy and Gate Agreement***

The Gate Policy is a specific document, which sets forth who may enter Sea Pines and under what conditions. **R. 85–140.** This includes who is eligible to have or to purchase decals for entry and who must pay a fee for entry. CSA implements and enforces the gate policy. **R. 85–140.**

Most of the revenue from the gate fees is used for community services and goes into the Community Service Fund. **R. 70.** This revenue is used for road maintenance, security, and administration. **R. p. 405.** A small amount of the gate-fee revenue is used for an intra-community trolley and marketing. **R. 405–12.**

In addition to the Gate Policy, CSA has a Gate Agreement with Sea Pines Resort and Sea Pines Center Associates. In 2018, CSA, Sea Pines Resort, and Sea Pines Center Associates, amended

the Gate Agreement, raising the daily visitor fee to \$8 and then later to \$9, with the possibility of the fee reaching \$10. **R. 412.**

***Advocaat demand and Lawsuit to inspect the 2018 Gate Agreement***

Advocaat is the trustee of the Advocaat Living Trust dated March 7, 2019. **R. 489.** That trust holds title to residential property in Sea Pines, making Advocaat a member of CSA. **R. 489-90.** She demanded to inspect the 2018 Gate Agreement. **R. 493-97.** CSA denied her request in February 2020. **R. 42.** As a result, Advocaat sued CSA. **R. 15;R. 22.** The crux of Advocaat’s complaint is that she is entitled to inspect the Gate Agreement because it is a “bylaw” under the Nonprofit Corporation Act. **R. 25-26.**

Advocaat filed an Application for Inspection of Corporate Records on June 19, 2020, seeking the same relief requested in the Amended Complaint. **R. 36.** The circuit court heard the Application and on September 4, 2020, found for Respondent and ordered Appellant to permit Advocaat to inspect the Gate Agreement (September 4 Order). **R. 1-10.** The circuit court found the Gate Agreement was a “bylaw” and “accounting record” under the Nonprofit Corporation Act (Act). **R. 4-9.** The circuit court held that Advocaat was also permitted to inspect the Gate Agreement under the common law and as a litigant under the Rules of Civil Procedure. **R. 9-10.** The circuit court also found Advocaat was entitled to recover fees and costs from Appellant, but the amount is to be determined at a subsequent hearing. **R. 10.**

CSA filed a Motion to Alter or Amend, which was denied, and CSA timely appealed the September 4 Order to the Court of Appeals on November 9, 2020. **R. 506.** On March 20, 2024, the Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal finding *sua sponte* the September 4 Order was not immediately appealable. In response on April 4, 2024, Advocaat and CSA jointly petitioned the Court of Appeals to rehear its March 20, 2024 Order and address the merits of the appeal.

The Court of Appeals granted the petition for rehearing and issued a substituted order on May 22, 2024, affirming the circuit court’s ruling in Advocaat’s favor. The Court of Appeals determined the standard of review was an abuse of discretion, and agreed with the circuit court that the Gate Agreement was a bylaw and accounting record. Further, the Court of Appeals found that the circuit court did not err in finding Advocaat had the right to inspect the Gate Agreement pursuant to Rule 34 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. The circuit court also noted a common law right to inspect the document, but, as argued by Appellant, that decision was not supported by any authority. The Court of Appeals agreed that decision was not supported by authority and declined to address it. CSA petitioned the Court of Appeals to rehear the appeal and alter its decision. The Court of Appeals denied CSA’s petition. CSA petitions this Court to grant writ of certiorari and correct the errors in the Court of Appeal’s decision.

#### ARGUMENT

**I. The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the circuit court’s order because it mistakenly relied upon the stringent abuse of discretion standard of review when the appeal involved questions of statutory interpretation that are reviewed de novo.**

An action involving interpretation of statutes is an action at law. *Auto Owners Ins. Co. v. Rollison*, 378 S.C. 600, 663 S.E.2d 484 (2008). Interpreting a statute is a question of law subject to de novo review. *Transport. Inc. Co. & Flagstar Corp. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund*, 389 S.C. 422, 427, 699 S.E.2d 687, 689 (2010) (interpreting de novo a provision of the worker’s compensation statute to determine if it acted as a statute of limitations); *Catawba Indian Tribe v. State*, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753 (2007) (interpreting de novo the language of a statute to determine whether the appellant was allowed to operate video poker devices); *Thompson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 200 S.C. 393, 21 S.E.2d 34, 50 (1942) (noting the court’s interpretation of the meaning of “any agent” in a statute was not a finding of fact and not subject to the any evidence

standard). In addition, novel issues of law are reviewed de novo. *Madison ex rel. Bryant v. Babcock Ctr., Inc.*, 371 S.C. 123, 638 S.E.2d 650 (2006).

A question of statutory interpretation is reviewed de novo even if the question may involve findings of fact or the application of law to fact. *See generally Charleston Cnty. Parks & Recreation Comm'n v. Somers*, 319 S.C. 65, 67, 459 S.E.2d 841, 843 (1995). For example, *Somers* involved an appeal from a board of zoning appeals (Board) decision denying the Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission's (CCPRC) application to build a park on Isle of Palms because a park was not a permitted use in the zoning ordinance. *Id.* at 66, 459 S.E.2d at 842. The Board interpreted the applicable ordinances and divined city council's intent with respect to the undefined phrase "municipal uses," finding city council did not intend a park to be considered a municipal use. *Id.* at 67, 459 S.E.2d at 842. On appeal, the Board argued the standard of review was "any evidence" because it involved a finding of fact, and that it was entitled to great deference in interpreting and applying local zoning ordinances. *Id.*, 459 S.E.2d at 843. The South Carolina Supreme Court disagreed, applying a de novo standard of review because the question of whether CCPRC's park was considered a "municipal use" under the zoning ordinance involved statutory interpretation and determining legislative intent. *Id.* The court found that a park was a municipal use and reversed the Board's decision denying the permit. *Id.*

This appeal involves multiple questions of statutory interpretation that should be reviewed de novo, and the Court of Appeals erred in refusing to apply that standard. The question of whether the Gate Agreement is a "bylaw" under the Act requires evaluating the definition of a bylaw under the statute, and determining whether the Gate Agreement fits within that definition. Likewise, the question of whether the Gate Agreement is an "accounting record" requires interpreting that undefined phrase to determine legislative intent, then determining if the Gate Agreement fits that

definition. Similar to *Somers*, although these questions may involve the application of fact to law, i.e. whether the specific Gate Agreement is a bylaw or accounting record, that does not remove the case from the realm of de novo review and into the deferential abuse of discretion standard.

In addition, the fact that the circuit court also found the Gate Agreement was discoverable under Rule 34 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure in a lawsuit with the sole purpose of compelling production of documents under the Act, does not change the standard to an abuse of discretion. As argued in Appellant's Initial Brief, it would be an absurd result not intended by the legislature, to permit a member of a nonprofit corporation to bypass the requirements of the Act for showing entitlement to specific documents, by relying on the breadth of allowable discovery under our rules of civil procedure.

Further, the scope of discovery is much broader and easier to meet than the scope of documents a member is entitled to access under the Act. Parties can obtain discovery on any relevant matter that is not privileged. Rule 26(b), SCRCP. Discovery is not objectionable if it is reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. *Id.* Rather than the amorphous standard of Rule 26 that requires discretion, the Act permits inspection of specific documents with differing standards. For example, to inspect documents such as "accounting records" the member must show good faith and proper purpose. S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-1602(c). Considering the narrower and better-defined scope of the Act, the appeal should be reviewed under the de novo standard applicable to statutory interpretation, as opposed to the abuse of discretion standard applicable to discovery orders.

Last, the Court of Appeals' finding that the order was injunctive in nature and, therefore, should be reviewed for an abuse of discretion, is contrary to recent precedent recognizing that "Although an order granting or denying a request for injunctive relief is generally reviewed for an

abuse of discretion, ‘where the decision turns on statutory interpretation . . . this presents a question of law.’” See *May for A.R.M. v. Dorchester Sch. Dist. Two*, Op. No. 6053 (S.C. Ct. App. filed March 13, 2024) (J. McDonald) (quoting *Lambries v. Saluda Cnty. Council*, 409 S.C. 1, 8, 760 S.E.2d 785, 788 (2014)). Even if this matter was injunctive in nature, it primarily involves statutory interpretation and should be reviewed de novo.

Because the Court of Appeals reviewed the circuit court’s decision for an abuse of discretion when it should have reviewed it de novo, the Court of Appeals erred and this Court should grant this petition for writ of certiorari to correct the Court of Appeal’s error.

**II. Under either standard of review, de novo or abuse of discretion, the Court of Appeals should have found the circuit court erred finding the Gate Agreement is a bylaw because the decision overlooked key language of the statute and leads to an absurd result not intended by the legislature.**

The circuit court ruled, and the Court of Appeals affirmed, that the Gate Agreement is a “bylaw” based on the definition of that term in the Act, because it regulates and manages the affairs of the corporation, specifically the gates and fees to access the community. The Court of Appeal’s analysis, however, ignored the full definition of a bylaw and significantly expands what can be considered a bylaw, beyond the intent of the legislature.

The Court of Appeals based its decision on the Act’s definition of bylaws, which is “the code or code of rules, other than the articles, adopted pursuant to this chapter for the regulation or management of the affairs of the corporation irrespective of the name or names by which the rules are designated.” S.C. Code Ann. § 22-31-140(4). First, the Gate Fee Agreement is not a “code or code of rules . . . adopted pursuant to” the Nonprofit Corporation Act. It is a contract setting out the rights and obligations of the parties to the contract. Finding the contract is a bylaw because it concerns the affairs of the corporation, ignores part of the definition of bylaws that requires the bylaw to be a code or code of rules adopted under the Act. See *Taylor v. Taylor*, 439 S.C. 272,

275, 886 S.E.2d 716, 717 (Ct. App. 2023) (finding the court of appeals cannot “isolate the words of a statute and ignore [its] obligation to interpret the statute as a whole”). The court’s decision was contrary to the rules of statutory interpretation. Even if it was in the court’s’ discretion, it was an error of law and reversible. *See generally Ex parte DeBordieu Colony Comm. Assoc., Inc.*, 442 S.C. 285, 290, 898 S.E.2d 179, 181 (Ct. App. 2024) (finding an abuse of discretion is shorthand for explaining there was an error of law in the circumstances, which includes failing to consider all factors relevant to a particular decision). Because the circuit court ignored key language in the definition of bylaw, it was an error of law amounting to an abuse of discretion.

Second, the Court of Appeals overlooked how the circuit court’s decision expands what could be considered a bylaw beyond the intent of the legislature. The Gate Agreement and its Amendments are contractual agreements between Appellant, the Sea Pines Resort, and the Sea Pines Center. Sea Pines Resort and Sea Pines Center are commercial entities that acquired Gate Policy rights. The circuit court reasoned the contract was a bylaw because it regulates and manages the affairs of the corporation. But every contract a corporation enters regulates or manages the affairs of the corporation. For example, if a nonprofit corporation contracts with an attorney to be general counsel or handle litigation, that contract would technically regulate or manage the affairs of the corporation because it would describe the scope of the attorney’s authority to act on behalf of the corporation. The same logic would apply to any contract the corporation enters for services from third parties. Certainly, the South Carolina Legislature did not intend for an interpretation of the Act’s “bylaws” to yield such an expansive result.

Further, the circuit court’s decision that the Gate Agreement is a bylaw, has consequences beyond the Nonprofit Corporation Act that could not have been intended by the legislature. Under the Homeowners Association Act, bylaws must be recorded in order to be enforceable or remain

enforceable. S.C. Code Ann § 27-30-130(A). Indeed, Respondent’s lawsuit included a claim that the Gate Agreement must be recorded under the Homeowners Association Act. If a nonprofit corporation’s contracts are bylaws because they regulate or manage the affairs of the corporation, the Act requires that the contracts be recorded to be enforceable. Carrying the circuit court’s decision to its logical conclusion, contracts with a homeowners association that are not recorded are unenforceable under the Homeowners Association Act. The legislature, in passing the Homeowners Association Act, did not intend to affect the enforceability of a homeowners association’s contracts with third parties, because that would be an absurd result. At the very least, the legislature did not intend to require all contracts with a homeowners association to be recorded.

Because the Court of Appeals overlooked or misapprehended the fact that the circuit court’s decision failed to consider key language of the Act’s definition of bylaws, and the decision is contrary to what the legislature could have intended, this Court should grant the petition for writ of certiorari and correct the Court of Appeal’s erroneous decision.

**III. Under either standard of review, de novo or abuse of discretion, the Court of Appeals should have found the circuit court erred finding the Gate Agreement was an accounting record because there was no reasonable factual support to find the Gate Agreement was used to prepare financial statements.**

The Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court, finding the circuit court committed no error ruling that the Gate Agreement was an accounting record, relying on a non-binding attorney general opinion.<sup>1</sup> First, the Court of Appeal’s recognition that the phrase “accounting record” is undefined and subsequent reliance on the attorney general’s opinion to interpret that phrase demonstrates the issue is one of statutory interpretation that should have been reviewed de novo.

---

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