**RECEIVED**

**Sep 06 2024**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

---

Supreme Court Case No. 2024-001281

Court of Appeals Case No. 2020-001500  
Opinion No. 24-UP-082, Filed March 20, 2024  
Withdrawn, Substituted, and Refiled May 22, 2024

---

Dana Advocaat, both individually and as Trustee of the  
Advocaat Living Trust dated March 7, 2019.....Respondent,

v.

Community Services Associates, Inc.  
.....Appellant.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

FORD WALLACE THOMSON LLC

Ian S. Ford, S.C. Bar No. 12463

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

### ARGUMENT

This Court should deny CSA’s Petition for two broad reasons. First, this all went according to the statutory plan. The Legislature intended for circuit courts to use their discretion to dispense with disputes over the inspection rights at issue in this case. Here, the circuit court did so, and the Court of Appeals properly, and unanimously, affirmed. This Court need not get involved; the circuit court operated just as the applicable statute intended. Second, and simply, the circuit court, and the Court of Appeals, got it right.

Properly reviewing the circuit court’s decision under the abuse of discretion standard, the Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court on three legal grounds as to why CSA was required to permit Advocaat to inspect the records that she properly requested.<sup>3</sup> The first two reasons are that CSA has a statutory duty to permit inspection, pursuant to sections of the South Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act pertaining to bylaws and accounting records. The third reason stems from the Nonprofit Corporation Act’s express acknowledgment of a

---

<sup>3</sup> The circuit court ordered CSA to permit Advocaat to inspect the requested records, including the Gate Agreement and any amendments. (R. p. 3). This is potentially important due to the timeline of this appeal, which may not be resolved before CSA enters into yet another amendment to the Gate Agreement. However, for ease of reading, this Return refers to the “Gate Agreement” with the intent to incorporate all the records that the circuit court ordered CSA to allow Advocaat to inspect.

litigant's right to discovery of corporate records.

Each of these reasons is an independent ground for inspection; each is an independent ground for sustaining the circuit court's decision. This Court should decline CSA's Petition.

**I. The Court of Appeals properly reviewed the circuit court's decision under the abuse of discretion standard because the circuit court directed CSA to produce the 2018 Amendment as authorized by the Nonprofit Corporation Act.**

CSA incorrectly argues that the circuit court interpreted the statute in ordering inspection of the 2018 Amendment. But the circuit court was not interpreting or construing the statute, which is unambiguous. Instead, the court was acting pursuant to the statute's clear directive: where a nonprofit corporation refuses to permit its member to inspect a corporate record, the court has discretion to order inspection. In other words, the circuit court compelled CSA to allow Advocaat's inspection of the 2018 Amendment because the court had explicit discretion to do so under the statute. Thus, the Court of Appeals should have, and properly did, review that order under the abuse of discretion standard. This Court should decline to review the Court of Appeals.

The statutory scheme grants to circuit courts the discretionary authority to order nonprofit corporations to permit inspection of records upon demand by a member. Initially, the scheme imposes a duty upon nonprofit corporations, like CSA, to permit their members, like Advocaat, to inspect corporate records. The duty is triggered when the member provides the corporation with statutorily sufficient notice of the member's intent to inspect and, with regard to accounting records, identifies a proper purpose for the request:

a member is entitled to inspect and copy, at a reasonable time and location specified by the corporation, any of the records of the corporation described in Section 33-31-1601(e)<sup>4</sup> if the member gives the corporation written notice or a

---

<sup>4</sup> "(e) A corporation shall keep a copy of the following records at its principal office: . . . (2) its bylaws or restated bylaws and all amendments to them currently in effect." S.C. Code § 33-31-1601.

written demand at least five business days before the date on which the member wishes to inspect and copy.

S.C. Code § 33-31-1602(a).<sup>5</sup>

But the Act anticipates that, despite their statutory duty, nonprofit corporations might not always produce the records properly requested by their members. Thus, the statute provides an express mechanism by which members may apply to their local circuit court to enforce their inspection rights. The Order that underlies this appeal rules on Advocaat's Application to Inspect Corporate Records Pursuant to S.C. Code § 33-31-1604, which states:

[i]f a corporation does not allow a member who complies with Section 33-31-1602(a) to inspect and copy any records required by that subsection to be available for inspection, **the circuit court where the corporation's principal office in this State, or, if none in this State, its registered office, is located may summarily order inspection and copying of the records demanded at the corporation's expense upon application of the member.**

S.C. Code § 33-31-1604(a) (emphasis added).<sup>6</sup> This summary process is intended to bring swift resolution to members, who are entitled to transparency from the nonprofit.

Because the circuit court acted with the discretion afforded to it in ordering CSA to allow Advocaat to inspect the records she requested, the Court of Appeals properly reviewed the circuit court's order under the abuse of discretion standard.

---

<sup>5</sup> The fact that Advocaat made a statutorily sufficient request is the undisputed law of the case. CSA did not appeal the portions of the order pertaining to the sufficiency of Advocaat's notice and demand to inspect CSA's records, nor as to her stated purpose for inspection. (R. pp. 3-4, 6, 8).

<sup>6</sup> As a roadmap for this Court, Advocaat brought her Application to Inspect Corporate Records pursuant to Article 16 of the S.C. Nonprofit Corporation Act, which sets forth the framework for members' inspection rights. S.C. Code § 33-31-1604 has several subsections, in addition to the one quoted, which identify the "hoops" that a member must jump through in order to inspect particular types of corporate records, as well as the function of the judiciary in enforcing the members' inspection rights. S.C. Code § 33-31-1604(b) contains a similar mandate to the block quote above, with room for a bit more discretion by the court as to the reasonableness of the time taken by the corporation to furnish the records. Here, the circuit court quoted both subsections in its Order, and it found that Advocaat had properly jumped through the requisite statutory hoops, entitling her to inspect the records she requested. (R. pp. 8-9).

Moreover, the Court of Appeals correctly reviewed the circuit court's decision under the abuse of discretion standard because the circuit court's order is one that is injunctive in nature and springs from an action taken pursuant to statutory authority. In Advocaat's Brief to the Court of Appeals, Advocaat likened the circuit court's order to a writ of mandamus, urging the Court of Appeals to review the circuit court's decision under the abuse of discretion standard. *See Richland Cnty. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 422 S.C. 292, 307, 811 S.E.2d 758, 766 (2018) (the decision on whether to issue a writ of mandamus is "within the sound discretion of the circuit court, and an appellate court will not overturn that decision unless the circuit court abuses its discretion."). Resp. Br. pp. 7-10.

Similarly, the Court of Appeals likened the circuit court's order to an injunction and thus reviewed it under the abuse of discretion standard. *See Hook Point, LLC v. Branch Banking & Tr. Co.*, 397 S.C. 507, 510, 725 S.E.2d 681, 683 (2012) ("The grant of an injunction is reviewed for abuse of discretion."). An injunction and a writ of mandamus are both compulsory in nature, as the court compels certain parties to do certain things. Here, the circuit court, acting with the discretionary authority given to it by statute, compelled CSA to allow Advocaat to inspect the records she requested. In contrast to CSA's argument in its Petition, the circuit court did not have to "interpret" the statute to make its order. Rather, the statute directed the circuit court to exercise its discretion to make such an order. Such a compulsory action is to be, and was correctly, reviewed for an abuse of discretion.

Moreover, CSA references the circuit court's decision that the 2018 Amendment was discoverable pursuant to the Rules of Civil Procedure. Discovery decisions are not disturbed on appeal absent abuse of discretion, and the appellate court must find the circuit court's decision was controlled by an error of law to overturn the discovery decision. *Evening Post*

*Publ'g Co. v. Berkeley County Sch. Dist.*, 392 S.C. 76, 708 S.E.2d 745 (2011).

In sum, the Court of Appeals correctly reviewed the circuit court's decision under the abuse of discretion standard. This Court need not reconsider and should deny CSA's Petition.

**II. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the circuit court's exercise of its discretion pursuant to the Nonprofit Corporation Act by ordering CSA, a nonprofit corporation, to permit Advocaat, its member, to inspect corporate records that regulate and manage the affairs of the corporation.**

Put simply, this Court should deny CSA's petition because the 2018 Amendment is a bylaw governing the affairs of CSA, which the circuit court correctly held members of CSA are entitled to view. The Nonprofit Corporation Act gives members the absolute right to inspect certain corporate records:

A member is entitled to inspect and copy, at a reasonable time and location specified by the corporation, any of the records of the corporation described in Section 33-31-1601(e)<sup>7</sup> if the member gives the corporation written notice or a written demand at least five business days before the date on which the member wishes to inspect and copy.

S.C. Code § 33-31-1602(a). These records include the governing documents of the corporation, such as bylaws.

To promote transparency and discourage gamesmanship by corporations, the statute's definition of "Bylaws" is designed to encompass any document used by the corporation for the management of corporate affairs. The statute defines "Bylaws" broadly:

"Bylaws" means the code or codes of rules, other than the articles, adopted pursuant to this chapter **for the regulation or management of the affairs of the corporation irrespective of the name or names by which the rules are designated.**

S.C. Code § 33-31-140(b)(4) ("Definitions") (emphasis added). Thus, the statute cares about

---

<sup>7</sup> "(e) A corporation shall keep a copy of the following records at its principal office: . . . (2) its bylaws or restated bylaws and all amendments to them currently in effect." S.C. Code § 33-31-1601.

the function, rather than the name, of the document at issue. Accordingly, the statute specifies that any document intended to regulate and manage the affairs of the corporation is a bylaw, regardless of its name. Whether that corporation chooses to name the document a “Rule” or a “Commandment” or an “Agreement” or a “Royal Decree” is irrelevant.

Using the discretion afforded to it by statute, the circuit court determined that the 2018 Amendment is a bylaw intended to regulate the affairs of the corporation, and that Advocaat has the right to inspect it. The Court of Appeals unanimously affirmed, reasoning CSA adopted the documents to regulate and manage its affairs.

In its Petition, CSA advances three arguments as to why the circuit court and the Court of Appeals reached an incorrect conclusion. As discussed below, all three are insufficient for this Court to grant CSA’s Petition.

**A. The circuit court and Court of Appeals both correctly saw through the mirage. Although the Gate Agreement is labeled a contract, it is in fact a bylaw subject to inspection rights under the Nonprofit Corporation Act.**

CSA claims that the Gate Agreement is only a “contract,” and the court ignored statutory language in ruling that the Gate Agreement is a bylaw. So, according to CSA, the lower court’s decision was a reversible error of law. But CSA’s argument oversimplifies the Gate Agreement and fails to consider its implications that directly bear on CSA’s members.

Contrary to CSA’s argument, the statutory definition of “Bylaws” unequivocally includes certain agreements (contracts) like the Gate Agreement. The definition plainly applies to any code or rules that regulate or manage the affairs of the corporation “irrespective of the name or names by which the rules are designated.” S.C. Code § 33-31-1604(a) (emphasis added). Thus, the definition includes internal rules (agreements; contracts) among members of the corporation which dictate the terms by which the

corporation fulfills its corporate functions.

Using its discretion, the circuit court found that, despite its name, the Gate Agreement regulates and manages the affairs of the corporation. Thus, the circuit court held the Gate Agreement is a bylaw for purposes of the statutory provision. Notably, CSA's corporate affairs include managing and maintaining the common areas, and the Gate Agreement regulates and manages the gates to the community (a common area) while also regulating the corporation's use of the fees associated therewith (used to maintain the common areas). Further, since the Gate Agreement is between CSA and two of its commercial members, the Gate Agreement regulates the behavior of the corporation with those members.

The 2018 Amendment pertains to a major, multi-million-dollar resource of the corporation (the gate fees), and it purports to dictate its use for common areas. Consequently, the circuit court properly looked past the name and into the function of the Gate Agreement, holding the Gate Agreement is a bylaw and subject to inspection rights. S.C. Code § 33-31-1602(a) ("the circuit court . . . may summarily order inspection and copying of the records demanded . . ."). The Court of Appeals properly, and unanimously, affirmed. Similarly, this Court should deny CSA's Petition.

**B. The Parade of Horribles lacks the requisite horror.**

Hoping to scare this Court into granting its Petition, CSA next argues the Court of Appeals misconstrued legislative intent and would require all contracts a nonprofit corporation enters into be considered a bylaw of that corporation. Fear not! The ruling does not go so far, and CSA's worries are alleviated by the facts surrounding the Gate Agreement.

This Court should remember two things, both already analyzed, when assessing CSA's policy argument here. First, the statutory definition of "bylaw" is broad – if CSA takes

issue with its breadth, its issue is with the Legislature, not with this Court. The Legislature has directed circuit courts to use discretion to apply the broad definition of “bylaw” to dispense with disputes over inspection rights, which the lower court properly did.

Second, CSA oversimplifies the Gate Agreement and overexaggerates the ruling below, misconstruing its effect. CSA tries to characterize the Gate Agreement as a simple agreement between CSA and two third parties. According to CSA, it follows that the ruling below would allow every contract a nonprofit corporation enters be deemed a bylaw. But CSA’s characterization is inaccurate. For starters, as already discussed and contrary to CSA’s argument, the Gate Agreement is not a simple contract between CSA and two third parties. The Gate Agreement is an *intra*-company agreement between CSA and two of its members, which regulates and manages a major resource of the corporation. While the statute does not require every contract to be subject to inspection rights, the Gate Agreement is not a close case. Nor is it one that needs published appellate court commentary. The statute absolutely includes a nonprofit corporation’s internal agreements (rules) with members of that nonprofit corporation—and particularly internal agreements which dictate the terms by which the corporation fulfills its corporate functions. In any event, the circuit court had statutory discretion to compel the inspection rights.

Ultimately, the Nonprofit Corporation Act intends for members of nonprofit corporations to have access to the corporation’s records, especially those that dictate the management and regulation of the affairs of the nonprofit corporation and its members. The ruling below does not raise questions about whether every contract is a bylaw—the ruling upholds the circuit court’s exercise of its statutory discretion to resolve a dispute over the inspection rights concerning a governing document. As a result, this Court should deny

CSA's Petition.

**C. Similarly, CSA's concerns that it may have to record the Gate Agreement are overblown.**

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